S261747

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

---

THE PEOPLE,  
Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

PEDRO LOPEZ,  
Defendant and Appellant.

---

Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, No. F076295  
Superior Court of Tulare County, No. VCF325028TT  
Honorable Joseph Kalashian, Judge

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Benjamin Owens  
State Bar No. 244289  
P.O. Box 64635  
Baton Rouge, LA 70896  
(707) 745-2092  
bowens23@yahoo.com

Attorney for Appellant  
Pedro Lopez  
By appointment of the  
Supreme Court

##

## ISSUE PRESENTED

The Court's order granting appellant's petition for review (Order filed July 15, 2020) limited review to a single issue:

Did the trial court err by sentencing defendant to 15 years to life under the alternate penalty provision of the criminal street gang penalty statute (Pen. Code,<sup>1</sup> § 186.22, subd. (b)(4)(B)) for his conviction of conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery, even though conspiracy is not an offense listed in the penalty provision?**No table of contents entries found.**

## INTRODUCTION

This case presents a pure issue of statutory construction. Appellant was convicted, among other things, of conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery. The offense was found to be gang related within the meaning of the gang enhancement statute. (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1).) That statute specifies a sentence of 15 years to life for a gang-related home invasion robbery. (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(4)(B).) Although the provision does not mention conspiracy, appellant was nonetheless sentenced under it. The Court of Appeal affirmed, relying on this Court's opinion in *People v. Athar* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 396 (*Athar*). For reasons explained in detail in the Argument section below, appellant asks this Court to reverse the lower court's decision and hold that the enhancement is inapplicable to conspiracy. Here he provides an overview of his argument to emphasize its central points without

---

<sup>1</sup> All further section references are to sections of the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

the complexity necessary to the more complete treatment of the issues.

First, the plain language of the alternate penalty provision does not permit its application to a conspiracy conviction because, on its face, it applies to a defendant *convicted* of a listed offense and conspiracy is not one of these. (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(4) & (b)(4)(B).) Furthermore, case law has interpreted functionally identical language in other enhancement statutes as excluding conspiracy convictions from their ambit. There is no reason these should not apply equally here.

Second, *Athar* is distinguishable and even if it is not, to the extent it is contrary to his position appellant respectfully urges that it not be followed. The conspiracy statute provides that conspiracies are “punishable in the same manner and to the same extent as is provided for the punishment of that felony.” (§ 182, subd. (a).) Based on this language, *Athar* held that the dollar-amount money laundering enhancements in section 186.10, subdivision (c), applied to a conspiracy to commit money laundering even though the statute did not refer to conspiracy. (*Athar, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at pp. 400–401.) However, the gang enhancement provision of section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4) and (b)(4)(B), is distinguishable because it only applies to those “convicted” of listed offenses while the money laundering enhancements apply to those “punished under” the money laundering statute. Certainly, appellant was not convicted of home invasion robbery.

If *Athar* were nonetheless applied in the instant case, as it was by the Court of Appeal, it would create numerous problems. The Court of Appeal interpreted *Athar* as creating a rule that all enhancement statutes applying to a target felony apply to a conspiracy to commit it unless they expressly state otherwise. If this were correct, as appellant explains in his argument, it would require setting aside established principles of statutory construction. In particular, it would nullify the language of numerous other statutes. It would also contradict *People v. Hernandez* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 835 (*Hernandez*), in which this court determined the death penalty statute did not apply to a conspiracy to commit murder. The death penalty statute clearly indicated it only applied to specific convictions (namely murder), like the statute at issue here. (§ 190.2.) Yet this Court's analysis did not apply a categorical rule of construction such as the Court of Appeal read *Athar* as requiring. Thus, even if *Athar* is not distinguishable it should be limited so as to avoid these problems.

Third, if there is any remaining ambiguity, overwhelming evidence of the intent of the electorate and legislature requires that a conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery cannot be punished under section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4)(B). The subdivision was added by Proposition 21, passed by the electorate in the March 2000 primary election. The measure as a whole and the ballot pamphlet give no indication that the provision would apply to conspiracy. Additionally, as already alluded to, at the time the measure was passed case law interpreted essentially identical language in other enhancement statutes as excluding

conspiracy convictions. Because the electorate was presumably aware of this, it must have intended that meaning under well-settled principles of interpretation.

Also, the legislative history of the conspiracy statute does not suggest that its language, “punishable in the same manner and to the same extent as is provided for the punishment of that felony,” should be construed as including an enhancement that on its face only applies to those convicted of specific offenses after the finding of additional facts. Such enhancements are not punishment for the target felony but for the additional findings. When the conspiracy statute was amended a century ago to contain language substantially similar to the current language, specific enhancements did not exist so “punishment” could not have included them.

Lastly, if ambiguity remains after a review of the extrinsic evidence of the electorate and legislature’s intent, it must be resolved in appellant’s favor under the rule of lenity. This rule of statutory interpretation requires that a penal statute be interpreted in the manner more favorable to the defendant if two potential constructions stand in relative equipoise. In her dissenting opinion in *Athar*, Justice Kennard argued that the rule of lenity should have applied. (*Supra*, 30 Cal.4th at pp. 406–407, 410–411 (dis. opn. of Kennard, J.)) In a nutshell, the conspiracy statute was silent on whether enhancements are included within the “punishment,” the money laundering statute was silent on conspiracies, and case law did not resolve the ambiguity. Her argument applies with greater force to section

186.22, subdivision (b)(4)(B), and if the Court reaches the lenity analysis, appellant argues it should be followed in the current context.

For these reasons, as elucidated in detail below, this Court should reject the Court of Appeal's holding and instead find that the 15-years-to-life penalty provision of the gang enhancement statute does not apply to a conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery. In sum, the plain language of the statute forbids it. The conspiracy statute read properly does not suggest otherwise and to the extent *Athar* holds differently it should not be followed. The evidence of the electorate and legislature's intent shows the enhancement was not intended to apply to a conspiracy conviction. Finally, the rule of lenity would not permit a different result.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **1. Trial court proceedings**

On February 24, 2017, a jury found appellant guilty as charged of conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery (counts 19 & 162; §§ 182, subd. (a), 211, 213, subd. (a)(1)(A)), criminal street gang conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery (count 20; §§ 182.5, 211, 213, subd. (a)(1)(A)), possession of a firearm by a felon (count 156; § 29800, subd. (a)(1)), possession of ammunition by a felon (count 160; § 30305, subd. (a)(1)), and attempted home invasion robbery (count 163; §§ 211, 213, subd. (a)(1)(A), 664). Gang allegations under section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), were found true on counts 19, 20, and 162, and

under subdivision (b)(1) on the remaining counts. Appellant was also found to have suffered a strike prior conviction (§§ 667, 1170.12), a prior serious felony conviction (§ 667, subd. (a)(1)), and to have served two prior prison terms (§ 667.5, subd. (b)). (7 CT 1268–1286; 8 CT 1516–1535.)

On August 14, 2017, appellant was sentenced to a term of 35 years to life in the state prison for the conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery in count 19, consecutive to a 19-year determinate term for the attempted home invasion robbery in count 163. The term for count 19 consisted of 15 years to life under section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4)(B), doubled for the strike prior, consecutive to a five year term for the prior serious felony conviction. An identical sentence on count 162 was stayed pursuant to section 654, as were the terms on the remaining counts. The prior prison term enhancements were also stayed. (8 CT 1652–1653.) Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (8 CT 1654.)

## **2. Appellate proceedings**

The judgment was affirmed in part and reversed in part by the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, in a published opinion filed March 12, 2020. (*People v. Lopez* (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 505.) The court agreed with appellant that one conspiracy count had to be reversed because there was only a single conspiracy, that the count of gang conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery could not stand because there was no completed offense of home invasion robbery, and that appellant was entitled to the trial court's exercise of discretion whether to

strike the serious felony enhancement. (*Id.* at pp. 522–523, 527, 532.)

The Court of Appeal rejected appellant’s remaining arguments. Among these was his claim that it was error for the trial court to apply the gang enhancement statute’s 15-years-to-life alternate penalty provision (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(4)(B)) to his conviction for conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery because the enhancement only applies to the completed offense. (*Lopez, supra*, 46 Cal.App.5th at pp. 529–531.) On July 15, 2020, this court granted appellant’s petition for review on this question only.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant adopts the factual background set forth in the Court of Appeal’s opinion. (*Lopez, supra*, 46 Cal.App.5th at pp. 510–514.)

## ARGUMENT

1. **The trial court erred by sentencing appellant to 15 years to life under the alternate penalty provision of the criminal street gang penalty statute (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (b)(4)(B)), for his conviction of conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery because the penalty does not apply to conspiracy.**

- 1.1. The relevant statutes

Section 186.22, first enacted in 1988 as part of the California Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act, otherwise known as the STEP Act, provides for sentence enhancements for certain offenses “committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, any criminal street gang, with the specific intent to promote, further, or assist in any criminal conduct by gang members.” (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1); Stats. 1988, ch. 1242, § 1; *People v. Superior Court (Johnson)* (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 950, 953.) In March 2000, the electorate approved Proposition 21, a tough-on-crime measure which, among other things, added an alternate penalty provision to section 186.22, subdivision (b), for certain offenses. (Prop. 21, Primary Elec. (Mar. 7, 2000).) Subdivision (b)(4), as amended by Proposition 21 and still in force today, provides in relevant part,

[A]ny person who is **convicted of a felony enumerated in this paragraph** committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with any criminal street gang, with the specific intent to promote, further, or assist in any criminal conduct by gang members, shall, **upon conviction of that felony**, be sentenced to an indeterminate term of life

imprisonment with a minimum term of the indeterminate sentence calculated as the greater of:

... .

(B) Imprisonment in the state prison for 15 years, if the felony is a **home invasion robbery**, in violation of subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 213; carjacking, as defined in Section 215; a felony violation of Section 246; or a violation of Section 12022.55.

(§ 186.22, subs. (b)(4), emphasis added; Ballot Pamp., Primary Elec. (March 7, 2010) text of Prop. 21, p. 120 (hereafter Pamphlet).)

Section 182, the conspiracy statute, specifies the punishments for persons convicted of conspiracy. With certain exceptions given in the statute, a conspiracy to commit a felony is “punishable in the same manner and to the same extent as is provided for the punishment of that felony.” (§ 182, subd. (a).) The statute has contained this or functionally identical language for a century. Specifically, after the 1919 amendment, “a conspiracy was ‘punishable in the same manner and to the same extent as in this code provided for the punishment of the commission of the said felony.’ (Pen. Code, § 182, as amended by Stats. 1919, ch. 125, § 1, p. 170; [citation].)” (*People v. Cortez* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 1223, 1230–1231.) Previous to this, conspiracy was a misdemeanor. (*People v. Cory* (1915) 26 Cal.App. 735, 742.)

## 1.2. Applicable general principles of statutory construction

It is the goal of statutory construction ““to ascertain the intent of the enacting legislative body so that we may adopt the

construction that best effectuates the purpose of the law.”<sup>4</sup>  
[Citations.]” (*City of Santa Monica v. Gonzalez* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 905, 919.) Principles of statutory construction apply equally to statutes enacted by voter initiative. (*Evangelatos v. Superior Court* (1988) 44 Cal.3d 1188, 1212.) The court first looks to the words of the statute as “the statutory language is generally the most reliable indicator of legislative intent. [Citation.]” (*Hassan v. Mercy American River Hospital* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 709, 715.) “The words of the statute should be given their ordinary and usual meaning and should be construed in their statutory context. [Citations.]” (*Ibid.*)

In construing its language, “Significance should be given, if possible, to every word of an act. [Citation.] Conversely, a construction that renders a word surplusage should be avoided. [Citations.]” (*Delaney v. Superior Court* (1990) 50 Cal.3d 785, 798-799.) Effect must be given to express distinctions in statutes, “unless the whole scheme reveals the distinction is unintended.” (*Jurcoane v. Superior Court* (2001) 93 Cal.App.4th 886, 894 (*Jurcoane*)). This Court has said, “we are aware of no authority that supports the notion of legislation by accident.” (*In re Christian S.* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 768, 776.) Statutes relating to the same subject are to be construed together as a single statute. (*Scholes v. Lambirth Trucking Co.* (2020) 8 Cal.5th 1094, 1107; *Lara v. Board of Supervisors* (1976) 59 Cal.App.3d 399, 408-409.)

“If the plain, commonsense meaning of a statute’s words is unambiguous, the plain meaning controls. [Citation.]” (*Fitch v. Select Products Co.* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 812, 818.) However, if a

statute is reasonably susceptible to multiple interpretations, “courts may consider various extrinsic aids, including the purpose of the statute, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, and the statutory scheme encompassing the statute.’ [Citations.]” (*People v. Garcia* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1166, 1171.) “When an initiative measure’s language is ambiguous, [courts] refer to other indicia of the voters’ intent, particularly the analyses and arguments contained in the official ballot pamphlet.” (*People v. Birkett* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 226, 243.)

### 1.3. The majority opinion in *Athar*

Because of its centrality to the Court of Appeal’s decision below, and because appellant here argues it should be overruled or limited to the extent it compels application of the gang penalty provision to his conviction for conspiracy, the opinion in *Athar* requires a detailed treatment. In *Athar, supra*, 36 Cal.4th 396, this Court examined the interplay between the conspiracy statute (§ 182) and the dollar-amount enhancements included in money laundering statute (§ 186.10, subd. (c)). The defendant was convicted of conspiracy to commit money laundering in connection with a large-scale software counterfeiting operation. (*Athar*, at p. 399.) He was not convicted of the substantive offense of money laundering. (*Ibid.*) The jury found true that the amount involved was in excess of \$2,500,000. (*Ibid.*) The trial court imposed a four-year enhancement on the conspiracy count pursuant to section 186.10, subdivision (c)(1)(D). (*Ibid.*)

At the time of the defendant’s conviction, section 186.10, subdivision (a), defined the substantive offense of money laundering and prescribed its punishment as “... ‘imprisonment in a county jail for not more than one year or in the state prison ... .’” (*Athar, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at p. 407 (dis. opn. of Kennard, J.)) Subdivision (c) of the statute provided for enhancements, depending on the dollar-amount involved. (*Athar*, at p. 400.) Specifically,

“Any person who is **punished under** subdivision (a) by imprisonment in the state prison shall also be subject to an additional term of imprisonment in the state prison as follows: [¶] ... [¶] (D) If the value of the transaction or transactions exceeds two million five hundred thousand dollars (\$ 2,500,000), the court ... shall impose an additional term of imprisonment of four years.” (§ 186.10, subd. (c)(1).)

(*Athar*, at p. 400, emphasis added.) In a divided opinion, the Court of Appeal affirmed the imposition of the enhancement, finding that its application to conspiracies was required by section 182, subdivision (a), under which conspiracies must be punished “‘in the same manner and to the same extent’ as those convicted of the ‘target felony,’ i.e., money laundering.” (*Athar*, pp. 400–401.) The plain meaning of section 182 required the enhancement because section 186.10 did not expressly prohibit it. (*Id.* at p. 401.)

Justice Chin, writing for a four-justice majority, agreed with the Court of Appeal. (*Athar, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at p. 401.) The majority first found support in *People v. Kramer* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 720, a case interpreting the language of section 654, the statute barring multiple punishments for a single act. (*Athar*, at

pp. 401–402.) Section 654, subdivision (a), provides in relevant part, “when an act or omission is punishable in different ways by different provisions of law, it ‘shall be punished under the provision that provides for the longest potential term of imprisonment ... .’ [Citation.]” The question in *Kramer* was whether to take enhancements into account when determining the longest potential term. (*Kramer*, at p. 723.) In finding that the calculation must include enhancements, the Court noted, “The statutory language seems clear. Nothing in that language excludes enhancements.” (*Ibid.*) *Athar* concluded that the construction of “term” in *Kramer* applied equally to the word as used in section 182. (*Athar*, at p. 402.)

Conversely, the *Athar* majority found *Hernandez, supra*, 30 Cal.4th 835 distinguishable. (*Athar, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at p. 402–404.) In *Hernandez*, this Court determined that the special circumstances under section 190.2, which provide for death or life without the possibility of parole, did not apply to conspiracy to commit murder. (*Id.* at p. 845.) Section 190.2, subdivision (a), then specified that the penalty for a person found guilty of first degree murder was death or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole if a special circumstance was found true. (*Id.* at p. 865.) Section 182 provided the punishment for conspiracy to commit murder was “that prescribed for murder in the first degree.” (*Hernandez*, at p. 864.)

The *Hernandez* court first observed that the wording of the statute did not show that the voters intended the death penalty to apply to any crime other than murder when they enacted the

1978 death penalty law. (*Hernandez, supra*, 30 Cal.4th at pp. 865–866.) Additionally, the initiative did not mention conspiracy. (*Id.* at p. 866.) And also of particular note, “subdivision (a) of section 190.1 state[d]: *‘If the trier of fact finds the defendant guilty of first degree murder, it shall at the same time determine the truth of all special circumstances charged . . . .’* (Italics added.)” (*Ibid.*)

Another important factor was that, as a practical matter, a person could not be punished for both a conspiracy to commit murder and the completed crime of murder, which the electorate would have been aware of. (*Hernandez, supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 866.) Therefore, it would have known that the only significance of the death penalty for conspiracy would be cases where no person died. (*Ibid.*) The ballot pamphlet did not mention conspiracies so it provided no evidence of an intent to impose such punishment. (*Ibid.*) Also, at the time of the vote, owing to recent United States Supreme Court case law, it was unclear whether the Eighth Amendment permitted the execution of a person for a crime not resulting in a fatality. (*Id.* at p. 867.) Presumably the electorate was aware of this as well. (*Ibid.*) It would have also known that application of the death penalty to conspiracy to commit murder would have resulted in an extreme divergence between the penalties for the similar crimes of attempted murder and conspiracy to commit murder; the former punishable by a determinate sentence of at most nine years once already enacted legislation became effective the following January. (*Id.* at pp. 867–868.)

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