In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S261747

v.

PEDRO LOPEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F076295 Tulare County Superior Court, Case No. VCF325028TT The Honorable Joseph A. Kalashian, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE ALTERNATE PENALTY PROVISION OF SECTION 186.22(b)(4)(B), GOVERNING SENTENCES FOR GANG-RELATED CRIMES, APPLIES TO CONSPIRACIES

The alternate penalty provision of section 186.22(b)(4)(B) applies to conspiracies to commit the enumerated felonies therein by virtue of section 182(a). Section 182(a) provides that a conspiracy to commit a felony is "punishable in the same manner and to the same extent as is provided for the punishment of that felony." A plain and commonsense reading of that statute requires that the sentence for conspiracy include all punishment for the target offense, including enhancements and alternate penalty provisions. (*Athar, supra,* 36 Cal.4th at p. 405.) Section 182(a) "does not require additional legislative clarity." (*Ibid.*) Therefore, the trial court properly sentenced appellant under the alternate penalty provision of section 186.22(b)(4)(B) for his conviction of gang-related conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery.

A. Relevant Legal Standard and Statutes

The interpretation of statutory language is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. (*People v. Prunty* (2015) 62 Cal.4th 59, 71.) It is well settled that in any case involving statutory interpretation, the court must determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose by first examining the statute's words, giving them a plain and commonsense meaning. (*People v. Ruiz* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 1100, 1105; *People v. Johnson* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 250, 260.) The plain meaning of the language in the statute "is generally the most reliable indicator of the legislative intent and purpose." (*People v McCullough* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 589, 592.) If the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, then the plain meaning controls and the analysis ends there. (*Ruiz*, at p. 1106; *Johnson*, at p. 260.) However, if the statutory language is unclear or ambiguous, the court """may 'look to a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be rendered, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part." [Citation.]" (*People v. Scott* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 1415, 1421.)

Section 182 governs the offense of conspiracy. With certain enumerated exceptions not applicable here, conspiracy to commit a felony is "punishable in the same manner and to the same extent as is provided for the punishment of that felony." (§ 182, subd. (a).) In this case, appellant conspired to commit the felony of home invasion robbery, which was found to be gang related.

The punishment for robbery is generally governed by section 213. Most first degree robberies are punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for three, four, or six years. (§ 213, subd. (a)(1)(B).) Home invasion robbery, which is an aggravated form of first degree robbery, is generally punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for three, six, or nine years. (§ 213, subd. (a)(1)(A).)

However, a different punishment exists for gang-related home invasion robbery. A home invasion robbery that is gang related is punishable by imprisonment in the state prison for an indeterminate term of life imprisonment with the minimum term of the indeterminate sentence calculated as the greater of (A) the term determined by the court pursuant to section 1170, including any applicable enhancements, or (B) 15 years. (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(4).)⁴

Section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), which was enacted in March 2000 when the California voters passed Proposition 21, constitutes an alternate penalty provision for home invasion robbery. (*People v. Jones* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 566, 576; *People v. Briceno* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 451, 460, fn. 7.) The penalty prescribed

(4) Any person who is convicted of a felony enumerated in this paragraph committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with any criminal street gang, with the specific intent to promote, further, or assist in any criminal conduct by gang members, shall, upon conviction of that felony, be sentenced to an indeterminate term of life imprisonment with a minimum term of the indeterminate sentence calculated as the greater of:

(A) The term determined by the court pursuant to Section 1170 for the underlying conviction, including any enhancement applicable under Chapter 4.5 (commencing with Section 1170) of Title 7 of Part 2, or any period prescribed by Section 3046, if the felony is any of the offenses enumerated in subparagraph (B) or (C) of this paragraph.

(B) Imprisonment in the state prison for 15 years, if the felony is a home invasion robbery, in violation of subparagraph (A) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 213....

⁴ Section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), provides in relevant part:

by section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), is not an enhancement like the penalties prescribed in section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1), because it is "not an 'additional term of imprisonment' and it is not added to a 'base term."" (People v. Jefferson (1999) 21 Cal.4th 86, 101; see Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.405(3) [defining] "enhancement"].) Rather, section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), sets forth an alternate penalty for home invasion robbery itself when the jury has determined that the offense was gang related under section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1). (Jones, at p. 576, Jefferson, at p. 101.) Thus, the punishment for the offense of gang-related home invasion robbery is set forth in section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), not section 213. (See *People v. Lopez* (2016) 243 Cal.App.4th 1003, 1011, fn. 8 ["If the [home invasion robbery] is found to be gang related within the meaning of section 186.22, the punishment is life in prison with a minimum parole eligibility period of 15 years"].)

In count 19, appellant was convicted of conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery (§§ 182, 211, 213, subd. (a)(1)(A)). The jury also found that the offense was gang related within the meaning of section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1) and (4). (8CT 1517, 1524.) Therefore, the alternate penalty provision for home invasion robbery was implicated. The trial court imposed a sentence of 15 years to life under section 186.22(b)(4)(B), which was then doubled because of appellant's prior strike conviction pursuant to section 1170.12, subdivision (c)(1), and an additional five years was added for a section 667, subdivision (a) enhancement. (8CT 1650, 1653.)

B. The Trial Court Was Required To Impose An Indeterminate Sentence on the Conspiracy Conviction Under Section 186.22(b)(4)(B)

The clear language of section 182(a) requires that a defendant convicted of conspiracy be punished "in the same manner and to the same extent" as provided for the punishment of the target offense. According to this Court's precedents, this punishment includes any enhancements or alternate penalty provisions. (*Athar, supra,* 36 Cal.4th at p. 405.) Section 186.22(b)(4)(B) does not expressly exclude conspiracies from its application, so the plain meaning of section 182(a) controls. Therefore, the trial court was required to impose an indeterminate sentence on appellant's conspiracy conviction under section 186.22(b)(4)(B).

> 1. The plain meaning of section 182(a) mandates the same punishment for gangrelated convictions of home invasion robbery and conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery

This Court's statutory analysis should focus on the unambiguous language of section 182(a). The clear language of section 182(a) requires that a defendant convicted of conspiracy be punished "in the same manner and to the same extent" as provided for the punishment of the target offense. Home invasion robbery that is gang-related is punishable under the alternate penalty provision of section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4). In this matter, then, appellant should be punished for his conspiracy conviction in the same manner as is provided for in section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4).

"The general plain meaning expressed in section 182, subdivision (a), that a conspirator will be punished in the same manner and to the same extent as one convicted of the underlying felony, does not require additional legislative clarity." (Athar, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 405.) "[S]ection 182 requires sentencing to the same extent as the underlying target offense, and that the sentencing is not limited to the base term of that offense" (*id.* at p. 406), but "includes all punishment for [the target offense], including enhancements" (id. at p. 405). Under the plain meaning of section 182(a), "a consequence prescribed for the offense a defendant conspired to commit—the underlying target offense—may be imposed for a conspiracy conviction only if that consequence constitutes part of 'the punishment' for the underlying target offense." (*Ruiz, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 1106.) There is no ambiguity in the statutory language or anything in the legislative history of section 182 that undermines this plain meaning construction. (See *ibid*.) Clear statutory language, such as the language in section 182(a), does not require further construction. (See People v. Woodhead (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1007-1008.)

Accordingly, the conspiracy to commit home invasion robbery with a gang-related finding is punishable in the same way as a gang-related home invasion robbery, that is, as the punishment is prescribed by section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4). Although section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), does not expressly include language regarding the punishment for conspiracies, it provides the punishment for a gang-related home invasion

21

robbery, which, in turn, provides the applicable punishment for conspiracy to commit that offense under the same conditions under section 182.

This Court's most recent precedents establish that section 182 is the proper focus of the statutory analysis. In 2018, this Court held in *Ruiz* that a criminal laboratory analysis fee (Health & Saf. Code, § 11372.5, subd. (a)) and a drug program fee (Health & Saf. Code, § 11372.7, subd. (a)), which expressly applied to persons convicted of various enumerated offenses related to controlled substances, also applied to a conviction of conspiracy to transport a controlled substance. (Ruiz, supra, 4 Cal.5th 1100.) In *Ruiz*, this Court agreed with the lower court, which had relied on the plain meaning of the language in section 182(a) that persons convicted of conspiring to commit a felony "shall be punishable in the same manner and to the same extent as is provided for the punishment of that felony." (Id. at pp. 1103-1105.) Although neither relevant fee statute listed conspiracy among the offenses it purportedly applied to, this Court relied on the plain meaning of section 182(a) to determine that the fees, if they constituted punishment, applied to conspiracy convictions. (*Id.* at pp. 1105-1106.)

In reaching this conclusion, *Ruiz* cited *Athar* approvingly for the proposition that under the plain meaning of section 182(a), the punishment for conspiracy includes all punishment for the underlying felony, including enhancements. (*Ruiz, supra,* 4 Cal.5th at pp. 1107, 1119.) *Ruiz* did not look to extrinsic aids or the legislative history behind the fee statutes on that question (*id.* at pp. 1105-1106); it examined the legislative history behind the fee statutes only to determine the separate and distinct question of whether the fees constituted "punishment" at all (*id.* at pp. 1106-1122). Once *Ruiz* determined that the fees constituted punishment, any further inquiry into the underlying character of the fee statutes was unnecessary. (*Id.* at p. 1122.) Although appellant cites *Ruiz* on a tangential point (OBM 35, 38-39), which the People address in section I.C.3.a., he fails to acknowledge either the significance of *Ruiz*'s holding regarding the plain meaning of section 182(a) or *Ruiz*'s agreement with the holding in *Athar*.

Here, there is no question that the alternate penalty provision of section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), constitutes punishment for a gang-related conviction of home invasion robbery. (Jefferson, supra, 21 Cal.4th at p. 101 ["section" 186.22(b)(4) establishes the *punishment*" for the underlying conviction (italics added)].) The punishment referred to in section 182(a) includes all punishment for a felony offense, including any enhancements or alternate penalties. (Ruiz, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 1119 [plain meaning of section 182(a) "renders a convicted conspirator subject to 'all punishment for' the underlying target offense" (original italics)]; Athar, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 405 [punishment for conspiracy "includes all punishment for [the underlying target felony], including enhancements"].) Because section 186.22, subdivision (b)(4), codifies the punishment for gang-related home invasion robbery, the plain meaning of section 182(a) requires that a person

convicted of conspiracy to commit gang-related home invasion robbery must be sentenced to the prescribed indeterminate term. And it matters not whether the alternate penalty existed at the time the conspiracy statute was enacted (see OBM 50) because section 182 "incorporates whatever punishment the law prescribed for [the underlying felony] when the conspiracy was committed." (*Hernandez, supra,* 30 Cal.4th at p. 865.)

Athar similarly requires this conclusion. Athar held that the enhancement provisions of section 186.10, subdivision (c), for money laundering apply when the defendant has been convicted of conspiracy to commit money laundering but not money laundering itself. (Athar, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 398.) This Court declared, "The general plain meaning expressed in section 182, subdivision (a), that a conspirator will be punished in the same manner and to the same extent as one convicted of the underlying felony, does not require additional legislative clarity." (Id. at p. 405.) It expressly agreed with the lower court, which had relied on the plain meaning rule to conclude that (1) the language of section 182(a) required conspirators to be punished "in the same manner and to the same extent" as those convicted of the target felony, and (2) section 186.10, subdivision (c), required the enhancement to be applied to a conviction of conspiracy to commit money laundering because that statute did not specifically prohibit it. (Id. at pp. 400-401.) By referring to the "punishment of that felony," section 182(a) necessarily included all punishment for the underlying felony, including enhancements. (Id. at p. 405.)

24

To the extent *Athar* examined the legislative history of section 186.10, it was only to point out that the statutory construction principles utilized in *Hernandez, supra,* 30 Cal.4th 835, on which the defendant relied heavily, were not helpful to him. (*Athar, supra,* 36 Cal.4th at p. 404.) This was because (1) the goal of punishing large-scale money laundering operations necessarily included punishing the conspiracies that underlie those operations, and (2) the money laundering statute did "not involve imposition of the death penalty without a murder, or any penalty that would raise serious constitutional concerns." (*Ibid.*)⁵

The Court of Appeal decision in *People v. Vega* (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 183 is also supportive. Consistent with this Court's later holding in *Ruiz, supra,* 4 Cal.5th 1100, the *Vega* court applied the plain meaning of section 182(a) to hold that the criminal laboratory analysis fee (Health & Saf. Code, § 11372.5, subd. (a)) applied to persons convicted of conspiracy to transport or possess cocaine. (*Vega,* at p. 194.) The plain meaning of section 182(a) was sufficient to reject the defendants' argument that, because the statute did not expressly include conspiracy among the convictions to which it applied, the fee did not apply to them. (*Ibid.*) Although *Ruiz* disapproved of *Vega*'s holding that the fee did not constitute punishment (*Ruiz, supra,* 4 Cal.5th at

⁵ Admittedly, *Hernandez* considered extrinsic indicia of voter intent behind section 190.2 when evaluating whether special circumstances applied to conspiracy convictions. (*Hernandez, supra,* 30 Cal.4th at pp. 866-868.) However, for the reasons set forth *post* in section I.C.3.a., *Hernandez* is distinguishable.

p. 1122, fn. 8), *Vega* remains persuasive authority concerning the plain meaning of section 182(a).

2. The statutory language of section 186.22(b)(4)(B) does not dictate a contrary conclusion

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